FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/21/2020 4:00 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/22/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99138-3

No. 79264-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATT SUROWIECKI, SR.,

Petitioner,

and

LARRY BANGERTER; ALEX AND ELENA BORROMEIO;
CAMP FIRE SNOHOMISH COUNTY; CAROL BRITTEN;
JAMES WAAK, individually and as lot owners and derivatively
on behalf of HAT ISLAND COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,
a Washington non-profit corporation,

Plaintiffs,

v.

HAT ISLAND COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, a Washington
non-profit corporation; CHUCK MOTSON, an individual;
KAREN CONNER, an individual; ALAN DASHEN, an individual;

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Matt Surowiecki, Sr. seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review set forth in Paragraph B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, published opinion was filed on September 21, 2020. It is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-30.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the applicable covenants for a homeowners' association command that any assessments be "equitable" and be imposed "for the mutual benefit of all of its members," did the Court of Appeals correctly conclude that the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that the assessments were equitable, but erred in seemingly confining the analysis of the inequitable nature of the assessments to a procedural one that avoids considering their substantive inequity?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding as a matter of law that a homeowners' association did not breach fiduciary duties to its members despite the fact that its board had failed in its duties to budget for projects, imposed inequitable assessments, lost records, and failed to perform legally required audits which still had not been completed at the time the court heard summary judgment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion accurately sets forth the facts and procedure below. Op. at 3-11. Certain factual points bear emphasis.

It is undisputed that there are 974 lots on Hat Island and 946 lots are currently owned and assessed. CP 2106. 268 lots currently have houses,

but the remaining 706 are undeveloped. *Id.* Of the 706 undeveloped lots, the vast majority are undevelopable. There are water connections for only 461 lots in total, and the Hat Island homeowners' association, HICA, concedes that, even then, the current infrastructure is "not capable of producing sufficient water for the simultaneous full-time occupancies of all 461 allowed residences." CP 2106, 2174. The other 512 lots lacking water connections can never be developed as HICA capped residential development at roughly 460 lots. CP 2018. Eight of the divisions on the Island contain lots without road access. CP 2141. Many lots have differential access to Island facilities and certain divisions cannot access Island resources without owning a boat. CP 2035.

The lots on the Island lacking water or road access will *never* be developed. CP 2154, 2215, 2470. And owners cannot use these "dirt lots" for any purpose, not even temporary camping due to the Island's ban on tents, trailers, or other temporary structures, CP 1983 (Paragraph 9 of the Covenants Conditions & Restrictions ("CC&Rs")), rendering those lots fundamentally useless.¹ This was not consequential in the past, when assessments were as low as five dollars per lot, but now HICA's assessments have skyrocketed in order to fund HICA's multi-million dollar

¹ The lots' tax-assessed values were widely disparate with the dirt lots being valued for only a few thousand dollars. RP (3/16/18):12-13, 35-36.

marina. CP 1602-06, 2215. These assessments have severely diminished the value of many lots, to the point that they are “under water” and essentially worthless. CP 2035, 2154, 2215.

The CC&Rs are at the core of this action. In the CC&Rs, HICA’s founders created safeguards for governance, including curbs on excessive assessments. One of the original developers and drafters of the governing documents felt strongly that assessments should remain low to preserve the Island’s modest nature. CP 1462. Former board member Becki Snellenberg described how her father, a drafter of Hat Island’s initial governing documents, capped assessments because he “hated taxation.” *Id.*

The grantors created safeguards to ensure that assessments were made fairly. Specifically, the CC&Rs restrict HICA’s power to assess lot owners only on an “*equitable basis*,” both for the upkeep of existing facilities and for any additional facilities. CP 1984. For those additional facilities, the grantors provided that, in addition to being *equitable*, the assessments, as authorized by its members, must be “*for the mutual benefit of all Its members*.” *Id.* (emphasis added).²

² The CC&Rs “are to run with the land and shall be binding on all parties and all persons” for successive periods unless changed “by a majority of the then-owners of the lot[s].” CP 1984. While HICA has recorded separate CC&Rs corresponding to the different divisions on Hat Island, they all include the mandate that any assessments be “equitable,” and at no point was the requirement for “*equitable*” assessments “*for the mutual benefit of all*” removed. CP 2054-58.

In addition to the CC&Rs, HICA also dictated Island operations through its bylaws and the articles of incorporation. While there have been several versions of those documents, HICA's current bylaws and articles reflect the grantors' fiscal restraint. For example, the articles dictate that HICA maintain the Island's infrastructure, but "in a fiscally responsible manner," and "preserv[e] and protect[] the real and intangible values of the Island owners' personal and community properties." CP 1994.³

Despite the covenant requirement that assessments be made equitably and despite the reality that many lots do not have access to water, lack road access, and cannot be developed, HICA continued to assess lot owners uniformly. That created an inequitable burden on the owners of undeveloped lots, such as Surowiecki, to fund HICA's operations and projects, including an ill-conceived marina project.⁴ Special assessments

³ As a basis for its erroneous analysis, Division I spent considerable time in its opinion discussing provisions in the bylaws on HICA's assessment authority. Op. at 4-5. But the bylaws could not circumvent the CC&Rs that ran with the land. If that were so, then the result of this Court's decision in *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014) would not be sustainable. The HOA in *Wilkinson* even amended the CC&Rs to implement a particular policy on transient rentals. *Id.* at 247. This Court held that amendment was ineffectual in light of the grantor's intent regarding the subdivision. *Id.* at 252-53. That is equally true here as to bylaws that alter the grantors' assessment intent as expressed in the CC&Rs.

⁴ That project, which was first proposed in 2006 as a \$1.6 million "dock renewal and augmentation of the breakwater system" along an already planned marina dredge project, later ballooned into a \$4.4 million dollar boondoggle, which faced significant delays from the economic downturn near the end of the last decade. CP 2417-18. HICA admitted "on [sic] one ever established a starting budget" prior to the commencement of the marina project. CP 384.

for the marina were imposed on each lot owner equally, regardless of whether the owner had a home on the Island, had a lot that was developable, or how regularly the owner visited the Island. CP 2417-18.

The marina project benefitted the 30 or so full-time residents and select owners with developed lots, but it did not benefit those who do not live on the Island, frequent the Island regularly, or own boats. CP 2470. HICA assessments have skyrocketed in the past few years to fund the increased burden created by the marina project. HICA makes no distinction between assessing developed, as opposed to undeveloped lots, or between assessing lots with road or water access as opposed to those that lack such access. CP 2215. HICA's implementation of the marina project in particular did not "preserve and protect" the real value of the members land, to the contrary, lot values *decreased* while yearly dues exceeded "25 [percent]" of the total value of many undeveloped lots. CP 2470; *see also*, 2154 (describing two lots which sold for "about a hundred thousand" dollars back in 2006, which sold "for a total of [\$]8,000" sometime around 2015).⁵

⁵ At one point, 146 members signed a petition calling a special meeting and a re-vote on the marina, surpassing the number who had voted for the marina expansion project in the first place four years earlier. CP 2026 (Becki Snellenberg, a former longtime Board Member, acknowledging that "I think getting 146 people on Hat Island to sign anything is an admirable accomplishment."). HICA's board delayed the meeting for six months by withholding approval for a special meeting while quickly entering into construction contracts and thwart any attempt to cancel the now over budget, underfunded, and unpopular marina project. CP 2163-64. Meanwhile, HICA provided very little, if any, transparency regarding its financial situation for its members. CP 2214-15. HICA also denied voting rights on budgets and assessments to those owners who were delinquent in

Division I's opinion did not mention that the "regressive" assessment structure allowed the "more fortunate [to] rid[e] the backs of the less fortunate" where undeveloped dirt lots were assessed at the same rate as a developed home, even while the value of dirt lots plummeted. CP 2470. HICA's own employees and board members admitted that the assessments are inequitable, grossly unfair, and regressive.⁶

When HICA continued its disproportionate and inequitable assessment practices, a group of concerned lot owners, who together owned 285 lots (only 8 of which were developed), filed suit in June 2014 to obtain declaratory judgment that HICA's assessments of the Island's disparate lots were inequitable and not mutually beneficially to all its members in violation of the CC&Rs. CP 5126-28. Those lot owners also asserted that

paying assessments, thereby depriving the owners who disputed the regressive assessment structure a meaningful opportunity to have an equal voice in voting on Association matters as required by HICA's governing documents. CP 2060.

⁶ One former board member testified that HICA's unfair assessments "puts a burden, extra burden on lots that are undeveloped." CP 2151. Another former board member confirmed the extra burden on undeveloped lots and acknowledged conflict between full-time residents and vacant lot owners over identical assessments. CP 2015-36. HICA's former bookkeeper testified that assessments were inequitable because "usage and the dirt lots are just not as valuable as a developed lot." CP 2215. Chuck Motson, Hat Island's manager and chief officer, even went so far as to caution HICA that it must remedy its "regressive tax rate" to avoid liability. CP 2229 ("Why are people willing to walk away from their properties on Hat Island? We have a *grossly unfair* taxation system and we need to address it before someone *successfully sues us*.") (emphasis added). Motson's "opinion of [the assessment system]'s regressive nature has not changed." CP 347.

HICA breached its fiduciary duties and harmed the Association through its financial mismanagement of Association affairs.

Discovery revealed that HICA's financial records were in disarray. HICA diverted funds from its operational budget to pay for the ballooning marina costs, while providing incomplete records to HICA members. CP 2214-15. Recordkeeping was a consistent problem; HICA lost records during a switch in accounting software, and communication among HICA and its bookkeeping was so poor that the bookkeeper resigned in protest. CP 2284-87. Unsurprisingly, HICA resisted an audit of its own records as required by law. CP 105-06, 1602-06. HICA members ordered an audit for years 2015 and 2016, but until recently, no audit had been completed. CP 93-94. HICA has even refused offers from the lot owners to pay for an independent audit. CP 2334-36. HICA has admitted to "ongoing problems with the financial management of our Association." CP 108 ("Everyone agrees that our financial system is not working as it should.").

Surowiecki and the other concerned lot owners adduced substantial evidence documenting both that the assessments were inequitable and did not benefit all its members because the undeveloped or undevelopable lots disproportionately subsidized the few developed lots. *E.g., supra*, n.5. HICA's rates are inequitable where a majority of Hat Island lots are, and will remain, undeveloped, approximately half of these lots have no access

to potable water, and many have no road access.⁷ Nevertheless, the undeveloped lot owners will pay the same assessment as the owners of beautiful homes with Puget Sound/downtown Everett views with full use of Island amenities. CP 2215, 2154.⁸

Ample evidence documented the substantive inequity of HICA's uniform assessment scheme, including the intent of the grantors as outlined in the CC&Rs and governing documents, testimony from Hat Island residents and former HICA board members referenced *supra*, and expert testimony regarding the Island's economics. Surowiecki's expert, William Partin, an economist and CPA who has worked on numerous cases involving community associations, CP 124-25, 166-79, opined that HICA's assessments were unfair, and Surowiecki in particular was saddled with paying 28.5 percent of all assessments, despite owning just two percent of the Island's developed lots. CP 127-30. Partin concluded that Surowiecki alone overpaid assessments to HICA by \$2,446,420.00. *Id.*

⁷ In the record, HICA board members refer to these lots as "access lots," admitting that they are worthless. *See, e.g.*, CP 2035 (referring to the access lots as "probably under water."). HICA claims that buyers typically wish to own these lots so they can use the island's amenities, such as the golf course or marina. *Id.* This belies HICA argument made below that its usage-based fees for amenities like golfing and moorage make the equal assessments more equitable. CP 609. One would think the "access lot" owners would spend a significant portion of money on usage fees if they were buying worthless lots to access the Island's amenities. HICA fails to explain how it would be fair or equitable to also assess their lots a substantial sum each year, equal to every other lot on the Island.

⁸ The trial court initially understood that there was a genuine issues of material fact as to whether the assessments were equitable in light of the foregoing. CP 4423-26.

The trial court granted summary judgment to HICA, based on its erroneous application of the business judgment rule. CP 202-03. Division I reversed the summary judgment in a published opinion, rejecting application of the business judgment rule. But Division I went much further, espousing new law in a decision that conflicts with precedent and creates terrible policy for homeowners' associations across the state.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) Surowiecki Created a Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding Whether HICA's Uniform "Per Lot" Assessment Scheme Is Inequitable and Not for the Mutual Benefit of All Members

Division I was entirely correct in its opinion that the business judgment rule is inapplicable to HOA board decisions interpreting CC&Rs, op. at 19, and that fact questions abounded as to whether the assessments were procedurally inequitable. Op. at 22-23.⁹ But it did not stop there.

Division I used this case to create new law, proclaiming that "whether a homeowner association's decision to adopt any particular assessment structure is reasonable depends not on the substance of the decision but rather on the 'process employed and the facts considered.'"

⁹ The procedural inequity of HICA's assessments is reinforced by HICA's voting rules which only permit one vote per owner, regardless of how many lots he or she owns. CP 597. This system apportions voting rights in a manner that favors owners of developed lots to the detriment of the rights of owners of multiple lots that tend to be vacant. This inequitable system allows the developed lot owners to push through a regressive assessment regime to the severe detriment of the rest of the lot owners.

Op. at 20. This overreach warrants review. Not only was this not the issue on appeal, the business judgment rule was,¹⁰ but it creates a host of conflicts with existing precedent that this Court must untangle. On remand, Surowiecki should be entitled to raise both substantive and procedural inequity of the HOA assessments, as both are relevant in determining whether HICA's assessment structure is equitable and mutually beneficial to all members.

At the outset, Division I's opinion injects unnecessary ambiguity into the law. It is entirely unclear where to draw the line between procedural and substantive inequity when it comes to lot assessments. Indeed, in this case, the substantive inequity resulting from HICA's assessment structure illustrates and provides the motive for HICA's procedural inequity in ensuring that "the more fortunate ride the backs of the less fortunate." CP 2470. Substantive and procedural inequity go hand-in-hand. These issues will persist on remand. Given the importance of covenants to HOAs, this decision has statewide implications. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

¹⁰ During an earlier round of summary judgment motions, before HICA concocted its argument based on the inapplicable business judgment rule, the trial court found that Surowiecki created a material issue of fact as to whether equal assessments were equitable. CP 4423-26. HICA did not cross appeal or assign error to that prior decision. Division I's musing on issues not before it justifies review. It had no authority to make such a major change in the law in what arguably amounts to *dicta* in a published decision.

This confusion is unnecessary because this Court has held that courts enforce covenants substantively, employing contract law when analyzing whether promises in CC&Rs have been breached. *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 249; 17 *Wash. Prac., Real Estate* § 3.9 (2d ed.) (injunctive or declaratory actions are the frequent avenue to enforce covenants).¹¹ Courts are well-equipped to handle such disputes, and the issue of whether assessments are “equitable” is necessarily an intensely factual exercise.¹²

Division I’s truncated analysis of “equitable” assessments creates many conflicts warranting review by this Court. It contradicts its own opinion in *Ackerman v. Sudden Valley Community Ass’n*, 89 Wn. App. 156, 944 P.2d 1045 (1997), *review denied*, 134 Wn.2d 1014 (1998) (observing that “equal” or “uniform” is not the same as “equitable.”), where the

¹¹ A court’s first objective in interpreting CC&Rs is ascertaining the intent of the grantors. *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 250; *Viking Props., Inc. v. Holm*, 155 Wn.2d 112, 120, 118 P.3d 322, 326 (2005); *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 623, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). Courts determine the grantor’s intent first by examining the covenants’ language, *Burton v. Douglas County*, 65 Wn.2d 619, 621-22, 399 P.2d 68 (1965), giving that language is given its ordinary and common meaning, *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 621, and reviewing the covenants in their entirety. *Id.* When construing covenants, this Court has placed “special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners’ collective interests.” *Wilkinson*, 180 Wn.2d at 250.

¹² The courts’ equity power “is inherently flexible and fact-specific.” *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 503, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010), *cert. denied*, 562 U.S. 1289 (2011). Inherent in equity is its broad discretionary sweep. “[E]quity has a right to step in and prevent the enforcement of a legal right whenever such an enforcement would be inequitable.” *Arnold v. Melani*, 75 Wn.2d 143, 152, 449 P.2d 800, 450 P.2d 815 (1968) (quoting *Thisius v. Sealander*, 26 Wn.2d 810, 818, 175 P.2d 619 (1946)). Courts in equity have broad discretion in fashioning remedies to do “substantial justice.” *Esmieu v. Hsieh*, 92 Wn.2d 530, 535, 598 P.2d 1369 (1979); *Sorenson v. Pyeatt*, 158 Wn.2d 523, 531, 146 P.3d 1172 (2006).

substantive impact of assessments was considered. There, the court rejected the HOA's argument that "equitably" necessarily meant "equal," noting that "equality is not the sole, or even a necessary, cornerstone of equity under all circumstances." *Id.* at 164. Instead, the court defined "equitably" as "characterized by equity: fair to all concerned," an inquiry that turns "upon circumstances then prevailing." *Id.* The *Ackerman* court did not confine its equity analysis to the *procedures* by which the rates were adopted.

If the "equity" analysis depends on the procedures by which the assessments were adopted, such interpretation would put form over substance and potentially limit argument on "the substance of the decision" on remand, *op.* at 20. However, *nothing* in the CC&Rs restricts such analysis or argument on remand. And Washington case law does not do so either.¹³ Division I's published opinion conflicts with those decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

¹³ Courts apply these equitable concepts frequently regarding common interest communities like Hat Island, particularly in the road maintenance setting where courts must allocate costs in the absence of governing covenants. *See, e.g., Ackerman, supra; Buck Mountain Owner's Ass'n v. Prestwich*, 174 Wn. App. 702, 308 P.3d 644 (2013) (addressing substantive challenges a dispute over road maintenance assessments); *Welker v. Mount Dallas Ass'n*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1054, 2019 WL 2913739 (2019) (court determined that the maintenance obligation of a road should not be divided equally among all homeowners, but rather *equitably* based on the amount of square footage access the multiple homeowners had through various easements, *id.* at *6-8, and approved of an assessment differential for developed and undeveloped lots because the owners of the latter used the affected road less intensely, and thus it was equitable that undeveloped lot owners pay a fraction of what the developed lots paid. *Id.* at *11-12).

In addition to conflicting with itself and other published Court of Appeals opinions, Division I went far beyond this Court's limited holding in *Riss*, claiming that this Court "clearly held" that a member can only challenge the procedural reasonableness of a HOA board's decision, not its substance. Op. at 20. Not true. *Riss* dealt with a "consent to construction covenant," and this Court merely stated that "decision[s] based upon standards such as *aesthetics and harmony* with the neighborhood are not substantively reviewable in court." 131 Wn.2d at 629 (emphasis added). This makes sense, given the nature of aesthetic decisions. However, *Riss* did not hold that *economic* covenants, like the promise that monetary assessments be equitable, could not be substantively enforced in court.

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