FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington  
11/20/2020 2:06 PM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
11/20/2020  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

99138-3

No. 79264-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I

---

MATT SUROWIECKI, SR.,

Petitioner,

and

LARRY BANGARTER; ALEX AN ELENA BORROMEIO; CAMP FIRE  
SNOHOMISH COUNTY; CAROL BRITTEN; JAMES WAAK,  
individually and as lot owners and derivatively on behalf of HAT  
ISLAND COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit  
corporation,

Plaintiffs,

v.

HAT ISLAND COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit  
corporation, CHUCK MOTSON, an individual;

Respondents

and

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

#### **E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

***1. Courts should give deference to corporate decision made within the corporation's authority, so long as that authority is exercised reasonably.***

Washington recognizes that courts should not substitute their judgment for that of a corporate board of directors "unless there is evidence of fraud, dishonesty, or incompetence (ie. failure to exercise proper care, skill, and diligence). *In re Spokane Concrete Products*, 126 Wn. 2d 269, 279 (1995) citing *Seafirst Corp. v. Jenkins*, 644 F.Supp. 1152, 1159 (W.D. Wash. 1986); *Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc.*, 56 Wn. App. 827, 834-35, 786 P.2d 285, review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1023, 792 P.2d 535 (1990). The rule does not require deference if a corporation fails to act



within its authority.<sup>3</sup> If a corporate act is within the authority of the corporation and the board, the business judgment rule may still not require judicial deference if the manner in which the decision was made was unreasonable. *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 632, 934 P.2d 669 (1997).

The rule applies to limit the liability of individual directors but it is also applied to require judicial deference to board decisions. *Nursing Home Building Corp., v. DeHart*, 13 Wn. App. 489, 498-99, 535 P.2d 137 (1975) (“Courts are reluctant to interfere with the internal management of corporations and generally refuse to substitute their judgment for that of the directors.”)

This Court has applied the rule to prevent courts from substituting their judgment for that of a board of directors, without referencing the business judgment rule. *In re Spokane Concrete Products*, 126 Wn. 2d 269, 279 (1995). This Court has also discussed the rule in tandem with application of the business judgment rule. *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612,

---

<sup>3</sup> See eg., *Twisp Mining & Smelting Co v. Chelan Mining Co.*, 16 Wn.2d 264, 294, 133 P.2d 300 (1943) (When a corporation acts beyond its corporate powers or its actions offend public policy, those actions are void.); *Club Envy of Spokane v. Ridpath Tower Condominium Assoc.*, 184 Wn. App. 593, 337 P.3d 1131 (2014) (If a corporation fails to comply with statutory requirements that failure can render a corporate action void.); *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa*, 180 Wn. 2d 24, 327 P.3d 614 (2014) (If a homeowner association exceeds the common law limitations on amendments to covenants the amendment is invalid.) *Hartsene Pointe Maintenance Assoc. v. Diehl*, 95 Wn. App. 339, 345, 979 P.2d 854 (2006) (If a homeowner association’s fails to comply with its charter in forming committee rendered decisions made by the committee “invalid.”)

632, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). Division One previously held that the business judgment rule applies to corporate decisions and courts will not question a board decision made within its authority absent evidence of fraud, dishonesty or incompetence. *Davis v. Cox*, 180 Wn. App. 514, 325 P.3d 255 (2014) review *granted*, 182 Wn.2d 1008, 345 P.3d 784 (2014), *rev'd on other grounds*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015). Division Two has recognized, in dicta, that the business judgment rule applies to the actions of a homeowner association. *Shorewood West Condominium Ass'n v. Sadri*, 92 Wn. App. 752, 966 P.2d 372 (1998), *reversed on other grounds*, 140 Wn. 2d 47, 992 P.2d 1008 (2000). These cases conflict with Division One's holding "that the business judgment rule limits only personal liability of individuals."

Division One's holding "that the business judgment rule limits only personal liability of individuals" is a pronouncement of new law that conflicts with this Court's prior decisions and calls into question its Washington's recognition of common law judicial deference to corporate actions, not just for homeowner associations but all corporations. The business judgment rule is well founded common law wherein the management of a corporation:

generally enjoys a presumption of sound business judgment and its decisions will not be disturbed by a court substituting its own notions of what is or is

not sound business judgment if the board's decisions can be attributed to any rational business purpose.

Official Comment to Model Business Corp. Act § 8.31 (2016 Revision).

Deference to the *decisions* made by a board of directors requires more than just limiting the personal liability of the directors. This Court should grant review to prevent judicial interference into the lawful acts of corporations in Washington State. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

After holding that the business judgment rule applies only to limit the liability of individuals, Division One correctly recognizes that when governing documents require the association to charge and assess its members on an equitable basis the exercise of that authority requires discretion. Op. at 20 (citing, *Ackerman*). As stated by Division One, “*Riss* clearly holds that this type of discretionary decision is subject to review only for its reasonableness” and “whether a homeowner association’s decision to adopt any particular assessment structure is reasonable depends not on the substance of the decision but rather on the “process employed and the facts considered.” Op. at 20 (citing, *Green v. Normandy Park*, 137 Wn. App. 665, 695, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007)). These holdings correctly recognize that corporate management decisions, particularly those requiring the exercise of discretion, are entitled to

deference, provided they are made within the scope of the corporate authority and that authority is exercised reasonably.

By announcing that the business judgment rule applies only to limit the liability of individual directors and then applying prior holdings that require courts to exercise judicial deference to corporate *decisions*, Division One's opinion creates potential ambiguity and uncertainty as to the when corporate actions are entitled to judicial deference, and when they are not. This ruling potentially impacts every Washington corporation and is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In his complaint, Surowiecki sought a "judgment declaring the Association is in violation of its Governing Documents for failing to charge assessments on an equitable basis." CP 792. At the trial court, HICA pursued a standard defense motion for summary judgment to dismiss Plaintiffs' assessments claims for lack of evidence under *Young v. Key Pharm.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989), *overruled on other grounds by* 130 Wn.2d 160, 922 P.3d 69 (1996). CP 607-616. After pointing out the absence of evidence, the burden shifts to plaintiff to produce evidence in support of each essential element of its case. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225.

In support of its motion for summary judgement, HICA set forth evidence of the discretionary decision making process that its board of

directors engages in to determine assessment amounts. CP 608-609. It is undisputed that the Board determines the amounts assessed to owners as part of its evaluation and balancing of use-based fees and assessments to generate a balanced budget. In opposing HICA's motion for summary judgment, Surowiecki did not challenge, address, or even mention, the "process employed and the facts considered" by HICA in determining the amounts assessed to owners. CP 511-538, 26-268, 209-264, 180-189, 109-179, 105-108. Instead, Surowiecki offered the opinions of individuals who disagree with HICA's allocation of assessments including William Partin, CPA who opined that an allocation based on taxed assessed values would be a "fairer allocation of Association expenses" and "more fairly distribute costs to property owners." CP 215. Mr. Partin did not challenge or even discuss HICA Board's allocation of expenses between use-based fees and assessments. CP 209-264.

The trial court recognized the opinion testimony, for what it is: a difference of opinion and not evidence that HICA exceeded its authority or breached some duty. CP 202. The trial court appropriately rejected this opinion testimony because courts will not substitute its judgment for a corporate board unless there is evidence of fraud, dishonesty, or incompetence (i.e., failure to exercise proper care, skill, and diligence). *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 632, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). *Id.*

HICA does not take the position that courts must defer to an association's interpretation of its covenants. HICA's covenants and bylaws grant the association broad discretion in determining the allocation of charges and assessments to its members. HICA's covenants state that HICA "shall have the power to charge and assess its members on an equitable basis." CP 1984, 4891. Division One interpreted identical assessment authority language in *Ackerman v. Sudden Valley* and held:

The discretion vested in SVCA in assessing its members is limited only by the requirement that such assessments be on an equitable basis. Such broadly stated limitations on governmental authority are not uncommon in foundational documents, as can be seen from constitutional language such as "due process", "equal protection", and "unreasonable searches and seizures".

*Ackerman v. Sudden Valley Community Ass'n*, 89 Wn. App 156, 164, 944 P.2d 1045 (1997).

Interpreting HICA's governing documents, Division One correctly determined that "[t]he plain language of HICA's assessment provision requires annual operating assessments to be 'equitable.' It says nothing about them needing to be uniform." Op. at 21. This interpretation only confirms HICA's broad discretion in allocating assessments. HICA's governing documents do not require uniform assessments or non-uniform assessments. CP 1984, 4891. They also do not require the HICA to allocate expenses between use-based fees and assessments so that some

owners pay some portion of HICA's expenses and other owners pay more based on their usage – but this is the approach taken by HICA's board in the exercise of its considerable discretion. CP 571-572.

Division One seemingly ignored the HICA board's decision to allocate HICA expenses through a combination of use-based fees and assessments and instead considered whether or not HICA acted “unreasonably” by not adopting non-uniform assessments. Op. at 21-23. A prior version of HICA's bylaws required that all annual operating assessment be uniform and not exceed \$21.25 per lot. CP at 4922. The bylaws were amended to remove those restrictions leaving HICA's Board with broader discretion and no standards or guidance as to how it should allocate annual operating assessments to its members. Id.

Division One remanded to case to the trial court finding:

{A} trier of fact could conceivably find that the decision to retain [uniform assessments] was not well-founded legally and thus unreasonable. If, however, HICA retained this uniform structure because, after a thorough vesting at community meetings, the membership concluded the current structure is as equitable as any other, then a trier of fact could conclude that “the process employed and facts considered” were reasonable.

Op. at 23. The possibility that HICA members (numbering in the hundreds) may or may not have considered a potential alternative approach to exercising its broad authority is not a recognized basis for a

court to substitute its judgment for that of a board of directors acting within its authority. This Court should accept review to clarify the extent to which Washington courts will defer to corporate decisions and when it is appropriate for the court or a trier of fact to substitute their judgment for that of a board of directors.

***2. Surowiecki did not allege a fiduciary duty claim against HICA and if he did, he voluntarily dismissed it.***

Surowiecki's Third Amended Complaint includes a "Breach of Fiduciary Duty" claim that alleges, "by virtue of defendant Motson's position as manager, and other Individual Defendants' positions on the Board of Trustees (including Karen Conner, Alan Dashen, and Susan Dahl)..." CP 789. This clearly establishes that Surowiecki was alleging claims against individuals.... by virtue of their positions. This cannot apply to HICA. Division One appropriately held that Surowiecki did not bring this claim against HICA, the corporate entity. Op. at 25. Additionally, Surowiecki's Third Amended Complaint sets forth his requested relief which includes:

- A judgment declaring that the Association is in violation of its Governing Documents for failing to provide and maintain certain common areas and facilities in a fiscally responsible manner;
- A judgment declaring that the Association is in violation of its Governing Documents after failing to preserve and protect the real and intangible values of owners' personal and community properties; and



- That the Association be required to make a full and complete account of its financial records.

CP 792-793.

HICA never moved to dismiss any claim that it failed to provide and maintain certain common areas, failed to preserve and protect the real and intangible values of owners personal and community properties or Surowiecki demand for an accounting. Surowiecki voluntarily dismissed these claims. CP 23-24.

Surowiecki asks this court to review fiduciary duty claims based on his allegations that HICA failed to act in a fiscally responsible manner, failed to preserve and protect the real and tangible values of the Island owners' personal and community properties, and failed to complete audits or provide for an accounting. *See, Surowiecki Petition for Review* at 17-19. If Surowiecki had claims against HICA for the relief referenced in his Petition for Review, he voluntarily dismissed them. There was no trial court order for Division One to review and there is no order for this Court to consider for review.

**F. CONCLUSION:**

There is a substantial public interest and compelling need for this Court to review Division One's holding that the business judgment rule applies only to limit the liability of individual directors. Corporations, including homeowner associations, should be allowed to act within the

bounds of their corporate authority without fear of litigation. When given discretion, a corporation's exercise of that discretion should be given deference, absent evidence that discretion was exercised unreasonably. In this case, the HICA Board actively sought to allocate the community expenses so that all owners pay some, and some owners (those that use the amenities more often) pay more. The decision is within the scope of their authority and there is no evidence that they acted unreasonably in carrying out that authority. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals and affirm the trial court's summary judgment order dismissing Surowiecki's claim that HICA is violation of its Governing Documents for failing to charge assessments on an equitable basis breached